



MINUTES OF THE CCM COORDINATION COMMITTEE VIRTUAL MEETING Held on Thursday 14th May 2020 from 10:00 to 11:30 hours

CMC

1. Present:

<u>Switzerland – 2RC President</u> <u>New Zealand</u>

H.E. Mr. Félix Baumann Ms. Charlotte Skerten

Ms. Aline Berdoz

<u>Philippines</u>

<u>United Kingdom – 10MSP President-Designate</u> H.E. Ms. Maria Teresa Almojuela Ms. Eleonora Saggese Mr. Jonelle John Domingo

Ms. Stephanie Baker

<u>Spain</u>
<u>Afghanistan</u> Mr. Juan Manglano

Mr. Abdul Ahad Shirzad

Sweden
Australia Ms. Sara Lindegren

<u>Australia</u> Mr. Diwaka Prakash

VIII DIWaka i rakasii

Austria Ms. Kasia Derlicka-Rosenbauer

Ms. Susanne Hammer

Ms. Gamze Subasi <u>ICRC</u>
Ms. Wen Zhou

Iraq

Mr. Mohammed Ridha Al-Haidari UNODA

Ms. Silvia Mercogliano
Chile: Ms. Erika Kawahara

Ms. Pamela Moraga

Apologies not received:

Mexico: Namibia
Mr. Alonso Martínez Zambia

Montenegro Implementation Support Unit - Secretariat

Mr. Nikola Ražnatović Ms. Sheila N. Mweemba

Mr. Emad Al-Juhaishi
Netherlands Ms. Elaine Weiss

Mr. Reint Vogelaar

2. Opening remarks by the President

The 2RC President, Ambassador Félix Baumann, opened the fifth Coordination Committee Meeting under the Swiss Presidency with a warm welcome to Committee members and stated that he was happy to see them again. The meeting was held virtually via Zoom for the second time as a result of the nationwide social distancing measures still in place due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The President welcomed the positive developments in the fight against the pandemic since the last meeting and made reference to the gradual easing of restrictions that had begun that the week. He reminded that the situation was nevertheless far from normal and that restrictive regulations around gatherings and travel were still in place. Thereafter, the President tabled the provisional Agenda which was adopted by the Meeting as presented.

3. Adoption of the Minutes of the previous Coordination Committee Meetings

The Committee adopted the Minutes of the Coordination Committee Meetings held on Wednesday, 22 January 2020, and Thursday, 2 April 2020, without correction, as accurate reflections of what had transpired during those Meetings.

4. Update by the Presidency on the hosting of the First Preparatory Meeting of the 2RC and its related documentation as well as on other matters regarding preparations of the 2RC

4.1 <u>Universalization</u>

Ambassador Baumann reiterated that universalization remained a priority for the presidency and he hoped that the regional workshops in Africa and South East Asia would still take place. He informed that he was closely monitoring the situation to see when travel restrictions in those regions would be eased. However, he advised that if the circumstances did not allow for face-to-face workshops to take place, these meetings would be arranged to be either Geneva-based or online. He expressed his anticipation to learn about the developments regarding the ICRC-African Union workshop and Pacific CCM workshop.

4.2 <u>Communications</u>

The President reported that while the uncertainties due to the COVID-19 pandemic had not allowed for a publicity campaign on the Review Conference to take place, the presidency had partnered with the GICHD and the CMC on 4 April 2020 - the International Mine Awareness Day - to tweet on mine and cluster munition awareness. However, the President informed that the photo exhibition on the impact of cluster munitions would proceed as planned, albeit with certain modifications. The exhibition would be launched in Geneva in August 2020 and continue to Lugano and Bern with the plan for it to culminate in Lausanne for the Review Conference. While the Swiss were optimistic that it would host the event, all plans would be subject to the evolution of the coronavirus situation at that time.

4.3 Hosting of the First Preparatory Meeting of the 2RC

Ambassador Baumann reported that during these uncertain times, the presidency was finding ways to ensure the continuity of the work and completion of the tasks that lead the CCM community to the Review Conference in an inclusive manner. He confirmed that the 2RC was still planned to be held in Lausanne as was originally envisaged. The presidency had consulted with the venue manager in order to prepare for alternative options of holding the conference and was informed that the venue was large enough to allow for social distancing and other hygiene measures if necessary. The President highlighted that technology to enable remote participation of the Conference would be required if travel restrictions were still in place in November. He expressed his optimism that the 2RC would proceed under normal conditions but informed that contingency plans were also being considered.

With regard to the First Preparatory Meeting scheduled for 8 June 2020, the President indicated that the situation was more complicated as public gatherings of more than 5 people remained prohibited and travel restrictions to Switzerland were still be in place. The Swiss authorities would declare new measures on 27 May 2020, but the presidency needed to make a decision on the First Preparatory Meeting before then. Given that there was not much time left, a physical meeting on 8 June 2020 would not be possible at that stage.

The President reported that he had met with UNODA the previous week to explore the available options for hosting of the First Preparatory Meeting. He was informed that UNOG was in the process of testing various online conferencing platforms that would accommodate interpretation in all 6 UN languages though these would not be ready by 8 June 2020. Therefore, in order to ensure maximum inclusivity, the President proposed a two-step solution for the First Preparatory Meeting. The first step would be an informal virtual briefing by the President on 8 June 2020 that would last for approximately one hour and held in English only. The purpose of the briefing would be only to provide updates to the CCM community on preparations. The President conveyed his preference for the format of the briefing to be interactive so that participants would be able to comment and ask questions. The second step would be to explore options to postpone the Preparatory Meeting to 29 June 2020. This was assuming that the meeting platform would be ready to host a hybrid meeting where a predetermined number of attendees could be present in the meeting room at the Palais des Nations and others would join online. Ideally, only one person from each delegation would be present at the physical meeting while other delegation members would join the meeting virtually with access to interpretation services in the 6 UN languages.

Ambassador Baumann also pointed out that Preparatory Meetings were typically only attended by Geneva-based delegates with few capital-based expertise. Nevertheless, he assured that the meeting would be as inclusive as possible without the presidency taking unilateral decisions and, in that regard, would inform the CCM community the next day of the two-step solution which would be followed by a silence procedure.

4.4 Conference documents

The President informed that the three main documents of the 2RC were the Review Document, the Lausanne Action Plan (LAP) and the Political Declaration. He expressed his gratitude to the

Coordination Committee for all the hard work that had gone into the preparation of the Review Document and also for all the comments that had been received. He informed that his team was finalizing the Document which would be presented at the First Preparatory Meeting. Thereafter, the Review Document would not be the focus of the work but comments could be sent until the Review Document was submitted to the UN for translation in September.

Regarding the LAP, the President stressed that the document would be a crucial tool for guiding implementation of the CCM in the next five years. He informed that along with the letter on the First Preparatory Meeting, he would circulate a concept note of the content and structure of the Action Plan to the CCM community the following day. Written comments and questions on the concept note would be gathered until 8 June 2020. There would be wider consultation on it until 8 June 2020. Thereafter, at the meeting of 29 June 2020 a zero draft of the LAP would be circulated. Ambassador Baumann encouraged the Coordination Committee to provide their written comments on the concept note of the LAP at any time. He explained that while the consolidated draft of the Action Plan would be presented at the First Preparatory Meeting, consultations on the document would continue for a few months following that.

The President further reported that the workshop co-hosted with the GICHD aimed at including mine action operators in the development of the LAP that had been originally scheduled for 6 April 2020 would proceed as a virtual workshop in June in order to elicit their contributions to the LAP before the circulation of its zero draft on 29 June 2020.

With regard to the Political Declaration, the President informed that the presidency would not yet initiate any document to allow for the focus in the following months to be on the Action Plan. However, some elements of the Political Declaration would be shared ahead of the Second Preparatory Meeting for a substantial discussion to take place during the 2nd Preparatory Meeting in September.

The President thereafter opened the floor for comments and discussion on the topics related to the updates he had provided.

In clarifying the available platforms for hosting meetings, UNODA informed that the UNOG Division of Conference Management (DCM) was testing various virtual conferencing platforms that would allow for hybrid meetings (one person per delegation in the room and others connected virtually) or an entirely virtual meeting. However, at that time, no date had been given as to when these platforms would begin to be used. The UNODA representative also advised that there would be a cost associated with using such a platform.

In its contribution to the discussion, Sweden welcomed the President's proposed two-step solution for the First Preparatory Meeting. Sweden also supported the notion of having only one representative per delegation at the physical Meeting as its capital-based delegates do not usually attend preparatory meetings.

In its contribution to the discussion, the Netherlands expressed its support for the President's pragmatic approach in preparing for the Review Conference given the uncertain times due to the pandemic. The Netherlands pointed out that even if Switzerland were to ease travel restrictions into the country, many other governments might still not allow their delegates to travel as restrictions were

still in place there. The Netherlands supported the informative meeting to be held on 8 June as it would reassure the CCM community that the Presidency, Coordination Committee and the ISU continued their work. It also noted that future physical meetings would restrict representation to one person per delegation and therefore understood that this would likely be the case at the First Preparatory Meeting. Given this scenario, the Netherlands sought clarity as to whether the meeting would be webcast so that those in capitals could follow the proceedings if they so wished. Webcasting would also allow for other members of the delegation in capital to communicate pertinent information with their representative in the room.

In its contribution to the discussion, the United Kingdom indicated that it was flexible regarding a meeting on 29 June and that it would have had participation from capital for the First Preparatory Meeting but understood the need to respect the restrictions due to the unusual circumstances. The United Kingdom enquired if the President would consider holding a fully virtual meeting on 29 June 2020 if the situation would not allow for a physical or hybrid meeting to take place, also given that the Intersessional Meeting of the APMBC taking place from 30 June would be entirely virtual with full interpretation services.

In response to the United Kingdom, Ambassador Baumann clarified that the APMBC Intersessionals were organized by the GICHD, while the CCM Review Conference and its Preparatory Meetings were convened by the Secretary-General of the United Nations, which was an important difference to be observed. He added that the presidency was open to a fully virtual meeting if this was agreed upon by the CCM States Parties provided that the virtual conferencing platform be ready by 29 June 2020.

In its contribution to the discussion, Mexico echoed Sweden and the Netherlands and conveyed its support to the President's proposed two-step solution of holding a virtual informal briefing on 8 June 2020 followed by a face-to-face meeting with only Geneva-based delegates on 29 June.

In her contribution to the discussion, Ambassador Almojuela of the Philippines commended the President for carrying out his mandate well and clearing the way forward during these extraordinary circumstances. She added that many uncertainties persist including the availability of a suitable online conferencing platform for the First Preparatory Meeting. She stated that many meetings in Geneva had been put on hold during this period. The Philippines demonstrated its support for the President's plans to hold a virtual informative session on 8 June 2020 and to circulate the concept note of the Action Plan in a timely manner so that state representatives in Geneva could begin consultations with their capitals so as to develop a national position on the document. Furthermore, the Philippines conveyed its appreciation to the President for organizing the workshop with operators and other stakeholders to weigh in on the Action Plan and indicated that this was an important step in the lead up to the Preparatory Meetings and the Review Conference. Ambassador Almojuela thanked the President for outlining feasible and workable steps for the Coordination Committee despite the constantly evolving situation due to the pandemic.

In its contribution to the discussion, Afghanistan also expressed its support for holding a virtual informal meeting on 8 June 2020 and concurred with Sweden on the physical meeting being attended only by Geneva-based delegates.

In its contribution to the discussion, Australia indicated that it supported the informal online briefing

on 8 June 2020 and added that the virtual fireplace chat convened by the Chair of the Group of Governmental Experts (GGE) on Lethal Autonomous Weapon Systems (LAWS) that took place on 8 May 2020 was well attended and a good model to emulate. Australia pointed out that the proposed First Preparatory Meeting being held on 29 June 2020 depended on the lifting of restrictions by Swiss authorities regarding gatherings of more than 5 people. He proposed that should the June meeting not take place, there was a need to be more creative with the September meeting. In this regard, Australia suggested lengthening the Preparatory Meeting in September to potentially 1.5 days to cover all issues related to the June Meeting then.

In his response, the President clarified that the Swiss government had banned gatherings of over 1000 people until 31 August 2020 but the maximum number of participants on 29 June 2020 was still unknown at that time. He proposed to wait for 27 May when further announcements would be made. He added that it would depend on the evolution of the coronavirus situation that was being reviewed fortnightly.

In its contribution to the discussion, Spain affirmed that it supported the notion to hold the First Preparatory Meeting in June, whether it be hybrid or physical in format. Spain further enquired if the presidency was aware of which online conferencing platforms other international organizations were using to convene formal meetings and gave the example of the World Health Organization (WHO) holding its 73rd session of the World Health Assembly virtually the following week.

In response to Spain, Ambassador Baumann informed that he had been following these issues closely and confirmed that the World Health Assembly would be held on a platform called Interprefy whose provider was based in Zurich and that the International Telecommunication Unit (ITU) was using the same platform. He reiterated that the 2RC and its Preparatory Meetings were convened by the Secretary-General of the United Nations and therefore came under the purview of the UNOG Conference Management. He then requested UNODA to provide clarification.

In clarifying, the UNODA representative echoed the President and affirmed that the logistics of the meetings would be organized by UNODA using the facilities available at UNOG and the services provided by DCM. She stated that tests had been run, including on Interprefy, but that she was not aware of the assessment and outcome. She assured that she would follow up with the DCM on the matter.

Adding to UNODA's clarification, the President informed that the UNOG Conference Management was in the process of testing three different online conferencing platforms and that it was in contact with the United Nations in New York and other international organizations in Geneva regarding this topic.

In her contribution, Ambassador Almojuela of the Philippines clarified that while the World Health Assembly would be held virtually on Interprefy, major decisions would be left out of the agenda to be considered in the future when the Assembly would be able to meet physically again. It was crucial for the WHO to hold the Assembly during the time of the pandemic even if the virtual platform was not an equal substitute for a physical meeting. Similarly, the ITU also proposed a virtual meeting on the understanding that only less controversial decisions would be taken and leaving the rest to later in the year. The Philippines informed that delegations were still being consulted on the use of these platforms to ensure that the key elements of inclusivity, transparency and integrity that were important aspects

of multilateralism would not be adversely affected. The Ambassador expressed her hope that providers of these applications would learn from these meetings and improve the platforms in the near future. She highlighted that the APMBC Intersessionals would provide insight to the CCM community on whether the chosen online platform would be suitable for future meetings, be they merely informational meetings or those that require decision making, consultation and negotiation.

Ambassador Baumann expressed his heartfelt thanks to Ambassador Almojuela and the Committee for the fruitful discussions. He acknowledged that there were still many issues linked to the use of virtual conferencing platforms and that the nature of the meeting would also dictate the level of technical sophistication required. In summarising the discussion, the President indicated that the online informal briefing would take place on 8 June 2020 followed by the First Preparatory Meeting potentially on 29 June 2020 in the most inclusive format possible. The Preparatory Meeting would also be subjected to the Swiss gathering restrictions and the UNOG Conference Management's decision on the virtual platform available at that time.

5. Update by thematic Coordinators on activities since the last Meeting

5.1 <u>Universalization (Chile & Philippines)</u>

Chile, on behalf of the Universalization Coordinators, informed that the Coordinators were in the final stage of establishing the informal Working Group on Universalization which would consist of Australia, Italy, Mexico as well as the Presidency, the ISU and civil society. The informal working group on universalization aims to establish a roadmap with three objectives: support the universalization efforts, generate synergies and streamline strategies. The Coordinators would be hosting a core-group meeting online the following week to further refine the work of the working group.

Chile, in its national capacity, communicated its support for the President's proposed informal meeting on 8 June 2020 and its flexibility regarding the formal meeting on 29 June as extraordinary circumstances required extraordinary flexibility. It added that it was important to hold these meetings to sustain the momentum of the Convention. The President thanked Chile for its support and pragmatism.

In her contribution to the discussion, the ICRC representative informed that the ICRC had recently been in contact with the African Union (AU) Secretariat and that both parties had reaffirmed their commitment to co-organize the 2-day regional seminar under the AU's "Silencing the Guns" initiative of 2020, which was originally scheduled for early April 2020 and almost half of the time would be dedicated to the CCM. The organization of this event will resume as soon as the situation allowed for it.

The President thanked the ICRC representative for her update and expressed his readiness to support the efforts of the ICRC in this regard.

In its contribution to the thematic discussion, UNODA informed that the United Nations Secretary-General had issued letters to States not party to the CCM to invite them to consider joining the Convention.

Ambassador Almojuela of the Philippines, as Co-Coordinator on Universalization, highlighted that there were specific opportunities for the presidency, the ICRC and other civil society to engage with the ASEAN region through the ASEAN Defence Ministers Meeting (ADMM) as humanitarian mine action was one of its areas of focus. The Philippines recommended to organize a CCM outreach activity in the region and offered to brief the group on the progress of the consultations between the Philippines Mission and its Department of National Defense, taking into account the revised calendar of the ADMM meetings this year following disruptions caused by the pandemic.

Ambassador Baumann conveyed his sincere thanks to the Coordinators and his readiness to provide support to their work.

The CMC representative expressed her pleasure at the encouraging updates on the ICRC-AU regional seminar and the formation of the Universalization Working Group, as well as on her anticipation for more members of the Coordination Committee to contribute to the universalization of the Convention. She conveyed her appreciation to the UN Secretary General for sending letters to encourage States to join the Convention and reported that the CMC campaigners had also recently sent letters to Signatory and Non-State party embassies in that regard. In addition, the CMC had run a universalization campaign on social media and targeted the Facebook and Twitter accounts of 30 carefully selected countries.

5.2 Victim Assistance (Mexico & Spain)

Spain, on behalf of the Victim Assistance Coordinators, reported that the schedule of work provided in their concept note had been disrupted by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, they were determined to carry out as many activities as possible and had in this regard updated the victim assistance national focal point list according to information obtained from Article 7 reports. The database had also been shared with the ISU. In addition, the Coordinators would be sending letters to States parties with an obligation to provide for cluster munition victims the following week to inform them of the launch of a platform to facilitate information sharing as well as communication among the different focal points.

Co-Coordinator, Mexico, further informed that the Coordinators had encountered difficulties in getting in touch with countries with Article 5 obligations. It echoed Spain and emphasized that the letters to be signed by their respective ambassadors would be sent the following week and that the Coordinators would do their best in keeping up with their work plan.

5.3 <u>Clearance and Risk Reduction Education (Afghanistan & Sweden)</u>

Sweden reported on behalf of the Clearance Coordinators that Article 4 extension requests had been received from Lebanon and Chile, and that the relevant Analysis Group established and chaired by the Netherlands. The Group had also invited representatives of the ICRC, CMC and GICHD to provide appropriate expertise in the analysis of the requests. Deliberations on Lebanon's request had been concluded and a draft report with recommendations would be sent to the President in the near future. Chile's request was still being considered and the Analysis Group would be meeting with the Permanent Representative of Chile in Geneva later that day.

Sweden reminded the meeting that Bosnia and Herzegovina's clearance deadline was in 2021 and that it had yet to submit its Article 7 annual report. The Coordinators had sent a letter to the Bosnian Permanent Mission in Geneva and contacted the Director of the Mine Action Centre in Sarajevo to enquire of its implementation progress under Article 4 of the Convention. The Coordinators were yet to receive an official response and hoped that Bosnia and Herzegovina would not be requesting for an extension of its deadline as was intimated by the Bosnian Mine Action Centre (BHMAC) representative in an earlier telephone exchange.

5.4 Stockpile Destruction and Retention (Australia & Austria)

On behalf of the Stockpile Destruction Coordinators, Austria reported that two Article 3 extension requests had been received, one from Bulgaria and the other Peru. The Analysis Group had already met to discuss the requests and had asked both States to provide further information and/or clarification on their submissions. The Group had given Bulgaria up to 15 May 2020 and Peru until 22 May 2020 to provide the requested information.

Austria, in its national capacity, expressed its full support for the President's two-step solution regarding the holding of the First Preparatory Meeting.

5.5 International Cooperation and Assistance (Montenegro & Netherlands)

The Netherlands, on behalf of the International Cooperation and Assistance Coordinators, reported that Chile had submitted a detailed response to the Article 4 Analysis Group's questions the day before and that the Analysis Group would need to meet to analyse Chile's response. The Netherlands conveyed its gratitude to the Permanent Representative of Chile in Geneva for his willingness to meet later that day with the Analysis Group to discuss Chile's extension request.

With regard to international cooperation and assistance, the Netherlands indicated that the response had been slow due to the COVID-19 pandemic and that the Coordinators had continued to go through Article 7 reports to determine which States required or had assistance to provide. The Netherlands ended its update with a reminder that its mandate as Coordinator on International Cooperation and Assistance would end after the 2RC and that Germany had expressed its interest to take over this role.

5.6 <u>Transparency Measures (Iraq)</u>

Iraq reported that letters were sent to States parties on 18 February 2020 to remind them that the deadline to submit the 2019 annual transparency report was 30 April 2020. As of that day, 41 annual reports had been received despite the COVID-19 situation with 35 of the reports submitted before the deadline, making it the highest rate of timely submission in the previous five years. Additionally, one initial transparency report and one voluntary report from South Sudan had been received thus far in 2020. The Coordinator indicated that another reminder would be sent to States parties that had not yet submitted their 2019 annual report. With regard to the 7 States parties with overdue initial reports, a reminder letter was also sent in February to encourage them to submit their reports and Iraq would continue its outreach efforts with these states.

5.7 <u>National Implementation Measures (New Zealand)</u>

Coordinator for National Implementation Measures, New Zealand expressed its agreement with the President's proposed two-step solution for the First Preparatory Meeting. New Zealand reported that it was working on letters to selected States parties that had yet to provide information on its Article 9 implementation. These letters were being prepared with the assistance of the ISU and the ICRC.

6. Update by UNODA on the financing of the Convention

UNODA informed that as of 30 April 2020, the UN had collected 75.1% of the estimated costs of the 2RC and its two Preparatory Meetings. While USD 132'000 was still outstanding, it was reasonable to expect more contributions to be made in the period up to the Review Conference. She informed States that information on funded and unfunded liabilities had been made available on the password-protected financial webpage, as requested by States.

In its contribution to the discussion, the Netherlands enquired if the dashboard that was originally only accessible for two weeks would be on the webpage indefinitely. The UNODA representative confirmed that it would remain accessible through the secure website and updated monthly. She clarified that during the two-week trial UNODA collected feedback from delegations and made some changes to the platform.

The President thanked the UNODA representative for the update and enquired about the additional cost to use the online conferencing platform. In response, the UNODA representative informed that webcasting, which had a delay of about 60 seconds, would cost between USD 1000 to 2000 depending on the number of languages that was possible to webcast. She added that she would provide the presidency the full cost estimate later that day. She also assured that she would inform the presidency on the availability of the virtual conferencing platform and its associated costs as soon as it was available.

7. Update by the Implementation Support Unit

7.1 Financing of the ISU

The ISU Director informed that since the last Coordination Committee meeting two more States parties had made their 2020 contributions, to bring the total amount received to CHF 260'945 or 54% of the annual budget of CHF 485'295. She further pointed out that a substantial contribution was expected to be received at the end of the month and which would bring the amount of the annual budget covered to approximately 70%.

7.2 Sponsorship Programme

The Director highlighted that the 2020 Sponsorship Programme was particularly crucial in enabling additional and diverse participation of States at the Review Conference. She reported that 3 States parties had had already made a voluntary contribution of approximately CHF 57'000 to the Programme for the year and that in addition to the carry-over amount of CHF 20'000, the total amount available in the Programme was CHF 77'000.

7.3 Extension Requests

The Director informed that the ISU had continued to liaise with states submitting deadline extension requests as well as to facilitate the meetings of both Article 3 and 4 Analysis Groups.

7.4 Briefings/Lectures by the ISU

The Director reported that the ISU had participated in two virtual presentations on the Convention. The first was at the "Introduction to Mine Action" Webinar for Donors on 28 April 2020 organized by the GICHD and the second was a lecture given to new cadets at of the Ecuadorian War Academy Advanced English Course.

7.5 Follow-up with States parties with obligations

The Director reported that the ISU had continued to follow up with States parties with obligations particularly under Articles 3, 4, 5, 7 and 9 to ensure compliance was not neglected during this period when most people were working remotely.

8. Any other business:

Ambassador Baumann expressed his utmost gratitude to all the Coordination Committee for the substantial discussion, the support to his proposals and the creative ideas and suggestions. He was also grateful for the Committee members' work in reaching out to other States parties to maintain the positive momentum of the Convention that would collectively help the CCM community to move ahead in a pragmatic way despite the uncertainties related to the pandemic.

9. Next Coordination Committee Meeting

The President announced that the next Coordination Committee Meeting would take place in mid-June 2020. Details pertaining to that Meeting would be communicated by the ISU closer to the day.

++++++++++++++